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INTRODUCTION

RESTORATION PPHOGRAM

When the Naticnel Parn Service acquired Hopewell Village
in 1938 the village was virtually unchanged in character {rom its
vriginal appearance in the ninetecnth century The greatest
anaclronism was the Viilsge Barn

After the restoration of tbe major part of the structures
arcund the furnace, the nucleus of the village, thc rirst important
restoration to be undertaken which would aifect the character of
the village was the Village Barn.

It should be explained why the term "village 1is used
in commection with the barm. It was the largest structure for
housing animale in the villege Tenent bouses had small barns
for the use of the occupontis dut it was the large dbarn that
both the work horses and mules used in the furpace operation
were housed Dairy cattle also had quarters in the mid-secticm
of the barn

Long after the furnace operations ceased, the owners
of Hopewell, Mr and Mrs. Edwerd Brooke contipued to use the
village as 8 dairy farm. Im 1920 a large, stuccoed, gambrel
roofed structure was erected over the old stone barn Fortunsately
for those interested in the restorstion cpncugh of the older walls
were left intact to ,indicate the extent and design of the clder
dbaan. The mewer structure, as long as the clder barn, wes twice

its former width and considersbly higher. Above opd <0 the



south of the old stone walls, cinder bleci walls were erected
increasing grestly the borns size and capacity

By e damolition of tpe lYgl portiun of the deiry
barn ani the subsugusni restoration ol vhe early barn, the
bullding would sgain take 1ts place as pert of uhe old villege.
Interpretavion of the carly irommeking cummunliy would become
essier with the modein barn rexoved [rom the heart of the
scens. The interior of the old boam with 1ts stables and hay
mows would be o great sssct to the interprotation of the
village in 1ts flourishing period. Accordingly, FCP's werc
prepared for the restoration and work ves scheduled for the
restoration w Ixgin in the riscal year 195y

T¢ inlitlate the progrem of rescarch a Historic
Structuwres heport, Part I,wes prepared stating the existing
conditicns and the restoration proposed This part cne
section was issued and agproved in January 1959 The Part IT
Architectursl Section of the report wes prepared by the
Architect al'ter thorovugh investigaticm of the bullding and
avalliable records
REFERENCE WORKS RSED

Dorubuseh and Heyl's definitive work The Pennsylvemia

Gexman Bexn, published in 1950 by the lenmsylvanis German

Folklore Bociety proved wo be & valuable .ource containing many
exmupics of the Pennsyivania Bani Ban

The work, The Peunsylvanie Barn, edited by Dr
Alfred Shouvmaker snd published by the Pennsylvenis iutch
Fulklore Cemter at Fraaklin spd Marshall College in 1955 alsc
contains neny finc cxamples.



For the informaticn relating to the background material
and the Hopew:ll Born in particular the typescript work
“Docwraentesion For eotoric Base Maps by former Pexik llstorian
Apple was considiod

Anotner source of similar Pemnsylvenia barms wos lound

after the barn wes completed but of interest ls The Lower Joxdan

Volley Pemsylvanie Gormen Sotilemcnt by Devid 6 Willlsms,

published by itbe Lehigh County idistorical Socletly in 150
CREDITS

For both ihe research and alannipg atages croddt ror
assistance mugt be glven to pooplc whe assisted in various weys
In edditicn to the authuis o the vericus seciions of the
Historic Structurcs Reports slready montioned credits must W
accoxded the following:

Tha Supervisory Architect of the Hlstorie Structures
Section of the Festern Office of Design and Constructiom, Charles
E Peterson

Te Quarlas Sheridan Painter, long time residant of
Hopewell Village and local coptractor wao pulled dowm tias
origingl barn and who provided the wrlter wiih memy detsdls of
the original framing ana comstruction IMr Painter elso built
the 1020 structure over the walls of Uthe old barn

To Parl. Distorian Runsieim, Tcbert Franz and Jack E.
Boucher whe proveded the photograpnic worik used la dolh the

Haetoric Structurcs Keport and in this complotion report.



In the ootual resteretion project apprecistion for
the amizble cooporation and excellemt craftemenshipy of Christ
Beiler gnd hie crow of Andsh bemm builders

To Building hostoration Specislist Charles i Seidel,
an interestod and deit assistont

To W Rusccll Bowem, a meson of the «ld ackool who
reoroluced el siabilized the oxtensive stune portlons of the
berm

To Superintendent Joseph K Pramtlce f'or his coup-
eration end menogcment of the demolitlon orew

To lidss Catherine ¥ Fritz, Adninistrative Asalstant,
for her capsble caintopance of the cost reuoris.

My Avohitest demry A Juid of Eastern Offlce of
Design and Comstbruciion for ihe miltorial assistance in tha
praparation ol this report

To Mr gnd Mrs. Edgar Dimmock who domated & ecllection
o 5l barn hardwsre ané to blacksmith George Brubalker of Leols,
Pa who 5o capably reproduced the remainder of the wrought irom

aerhvore

Bormsn M Souder
Architect
Doceamber 1950
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B.

ARCHITECTURAL RESEARCH

LOCATIORS OF OLD BARRS AND DETAILS ROTED

The search of similar barn types with the cantilevered
forebay began at the farms of Theadore Neiman on St. Peter's
Foad and Charles Messner on Houte 83 near Gibralter.

For stable details the sbove mentioned farm at Gibralter,
Mr. Singer’s farm near Churchtown and Miss Nellie Bitler's bam
at Pine Swanp were stulied. MNiss Bitler's farm also had stone
door Jaubs as did the large serpentine stome barn north of West
Chester, Fa. Comparsble barred windows and drew bars also occur
at the"Norleigh” in Lionville, Pa. cwned by the suthor. The
writer stopped at many farme whose owners are not known and who
may not have known that the vriter stopped and msde a few quick
notes.

All of tue above farms exsmined for a particular detatl
revealed the existence of meny other pertinent items that were
of value in the resioration of tne Village Barn. Many notable
hinge designs, watering troughs, grennries and construction
detalls werc found.

The result of the side trips was & composite of the
early barms of the period that was applicable to the restoration
of the barn &t Hopewell.

GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS OF PERNSYLVANIA GERMAN BARENS

Dornbusch and Heyl in their work The Pemnsylvanis

German Barn have listed many barms according to their structural
and design types. CShoemaker's "The Pennsylvanis Baran“ contains
& series of essays on the subject but does not classify the
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varlows damms intG types

Wnilc the type a.mi slzes varicd according o ihe
clreumatencos and ragalogscnis O he vwnetn, corinin
chargeberiscoios raagin conglant

T Dl Duck, @se.cl800 waliney woth o Pennsylvanis
Duteh, comnalne o cbeble on tae lowes Jovodl @l Lvue graln
slorsgs aal hoy mows on the upper lewd Thoe boun was usually
il on W sids of 4 olle wr Clec in goude 1o order W o
Lhe appr .ach by wegon Lo the mews Tn vle wepee leveld moru gradual
Cecanzlonsdly, havioonr, bhe bt was witoiels onow eoupeeatively
Jevel grale In thle cese (e bont wes @ dong baile-uy Lty ol
aarth with owone rolalning, i chech, wails av woe sides In
eoppection with this laticr Uype, ek 1 Caes o Gy,
bridge was provided compociing ke ramy wilin whe Lhecbudng
Mooy thos «lisinating o sgamk proecs e 0 Lht lubg rwep on
the foundatlop wull o0 e BuIn.

The coneal ey agp: sacin.d by “his stup wos
Nanaed by bay caws Tho Jlooes OO whlcn @ere weualldy loose
bogls and coadad o SI1lod Wil hay Teow door Lo roor Ghe
rawvey, camonly foown oo tho Lhceshlog Toor, Wi sullaldy
Mooyl o plan 100 Bl 00 el b el dhe Jeduest Lolns
ond by wegoms  Toounsll ol Uhe owe G hay ¢ ahe wes consbtruc-
ted for convemience ol pugling Lbe Loy o cue otobles delow
These were mace of poles reachlng foom Y10 o raliors an.
were slded with 3 sugn slabs oy seantliing bwe ool aporl o
form o cowle laddor 2 bole at che besc 0 Wis cubs on
the mow flowr oponed ines (he manger alslie of She sluble

below



In the stable on the lower level the custom was to
provide a manger aisnle for feeding with the stalls on either
side The maber of stalls depended upon the width of the
barn The widih required {or cach eniuwal being approximately
307 to 4'-0"  In thc Hopewell Barm there were six stalls
per alsle, throe manger alsles and 8ix ranus o stalls vhich
provided housing for thixty-eix enimals. Only one scction
eonsisting of 8 manger aicle and two ranks of stells has
hoeen restored &b this vioe.

Each row «f stalle and each menger alsle vas
provided with & door on the stable side under the projecting
forcbay  “Duteh” type doors are the must comon since the
upper scctions could de opexed for ventllation, the closed
lower section kept the andimels from escaeping.

An sdditiopal restrictive feature in sume of' the
older barns was the use of oak drsw bars which weare sot in the
stable wall and could be lid across the douor opening, the
cexl repting in & shallow recosg on  the opposite jamb. When
not in use these were kept pushed inito the Jamd of the door
and hed & vrought {ron ring at the end for convenience in
drowing the bar out of the wall Thesec draw bore woere used
only in the doors opening {rum the sualls

Granarics, scparate rooms {itted with bins for
grain {eeds, were usually located in the orebay on the
mow level  Occaagsionally thoy were located over the feeding

areas with a clmie froum the grasary to o mixing trough im the



stable below. In the liopewell barn these have been placed in
the traditional location for two reasons. First there is po
mmowm location of the granaries in the originmal structwre.
Second, due to the upper level dbeing open to visiters, the size
of the granarics hed to be minirized and located in the cormers
to allow vialtor clrculaetion.

Tae structural framing of the various barn types of
the carly period (late eighteemth centwy -- mid-nineteenth
cemtury) sppears to beve bean simiiar in this area. The
drawing of & typical cross sectlon is included in the appendix.
Such variations are mipor and appesr L0 have boen the result of
the ownars desires ani the size of the structure, that is, an
ipcrease in the width and height which changes the structural
proportions.

USE OF HOPEWELL PUOTCGRAPED

Seversl photographs, now in the Bopewell files,
provided & veluable sid In designing miesing featurvs  Such
deta 15 as the roof pitch, shutters, the clroular opening in
the vest goble, and early grade lipes were taken from these
cld photcs. Unfortunately no photographs wers found depicting
the north amd south elevatiuns of the original darn. The
Stauffer 1920 photo of the south siows the old barm at its
peak of develcpmeuc when the “crebay had been greatly
enlarged and suppoited on pillars

Another photc, P-1950-54, shows the third stege, &

carrisge shed at the east end a8 a lean to stone addition which
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was later raised to full height with vertical wood siding. These
sections added mrter the 1340 period were not included in the
restoration.

Toe series of phoilog showing the west end of the barm
indicate many changes in grade levels. iovever, there sre none
showing the west stable door im use as it has been restored.

As a result ihe present restored grade on the west side is
lower than any indicated in the photos.
ACCOUNTS OF DETAILS OF THE OLD CONSTRUCTION BY C. SHERIDAN PAINTER

Mr. Painier, as has deen moted before, was a long vime
reaident of the village and was also a bullding coantractor.
Having sn unusual interesti in buildings ne retained a memory
of the structure at lopewell as they existed when he was a youih.
lLater he repaired many of the buildings and in 1925 pulled down
the old berms and erected the modern dairy bern for Mrs. Edward
Brooke, the owner of Hopewell.

Mr. Paipter's inowledge of the old barn was &0 deteiled
thet he wvas able to recall and describe such missing features as
the locatiom of the stable windows, tho stable layoul, and the
location of the "raising plece” (sill plate) which marked the
extont of the oli forebay.

Painter recalls the sast end wall of the {irst section
which was completely removed in 1924 as having the same size
opening as the west end. lowever, when the cast section was

added 10 the stone gsble was removed Lo the square and the
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stonework above the head of the opening removed to provide a
higher opening by whick hay could be pitched into the center
wow from the mew threshing flecr. When the east vall was
restored the stone was cmlited in these srees to 11t the
description furnishz'«i the Architoct.

Phe two norih mow doors were ditlerent colors for e
practical rvason The carlier west scciion was cnbirely
vhitcwasacd  When the next cection (which we have restored)
vas added, the door im that sectlon wes palnted red. As it
is difficult tc palnt cver whitewass it became the practice
o whitewash the west mow door and paipl the mow docr in the
east acdition. Due to the parrower cast Joor ihe diagonsl
brace caused the access Joor to have an angled hoad Mr.
Palnter clearly remembers this detall Az 1t worked cut it
was necessary Lo slope ine head of tac small door in order to
P4t the &ccess @oOcr into cthe loxge Aol

#ith Mr. tainter's asclstemce the drcniisct wee
able Lo revonsiruct the baxn framing sod cstablish lunber sizes
L reproduce uhe original with grest soouresy .

There is incladed in the appendix of this veport
sko.ches of dotails based on Mr. Palnter's cketches and
descriptions.

T4 should be noted here thatl every deiail of the
proposed restorstich was checked for suthenticity before 1t was
tacorporated into the working drswings Waen she resteration
wes completed Wr. raintor was asked it inmspect the barn. He
appoared very pleasced and saetisiied that the structure was

1ike the one he remewbered so vividly.



EXPLORATION OF BUILDING FABRIC PRIOR TO REMOVAL OF MODERN PARTS

The old stome walls partially intact in the cinder
block envelcpe of the later structure provided the first clue
to the charactar and style of the earlier structure. The
north wall at the lower level was completely intact as were
the end wvalls except for holes cut for the modern windows and
door. The stable wall (south) was omly partially in place.

A long section of this wall at the west end had been yipned
out and 8 doorway in the mid secticn hal beon enlerged The
misaing doorwaye in the nouth wall were determined in most
cases by the sill stones, all but one of which werse intest.
The left Jamd of the latter together with the averege door
width provided the clue to this last

The remains of the missing eest wall ¢f the First
building were found under the earth fleor apd were alszo
indicated by the roughimed aress of' the north and south walls.

Tha upper supports of the stall and manger goctions
could be traced by the ¢ x 6 holes in the masonry

Such fogtures as the west door and the changed
windcw openings on the same wall were cbvicus becguse of the
outlines of the openings found on the clder eonstruction.

This comdition applicd to the two windows on the north wvell
sljacent to the former openings.

The openings on the stome cast and west wells of the
upper level were filloed in and altered by the insertion of
double windows  However, encugh remained of both to determine
the origingl size The lintels were also partielly intact

8o that they could be reproduced with accuracy.-



Tha seavch Cor ordiginel wood ip the dliing was
almosgt Suiile  The visible doors and wimdows proved ic be
ceplocemenis . ALl o tue Treamcs except Lhe three in the
west end ¢f the norih well, which werd covered wiih stone 111,
were migsing. ALl of the ouber reses agd buen semoved prior

W, cr ey the tiwe ol the 1926 conversiva.
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Tae dalry barn was the seuc lengih Bat approximately
wwlce the widib ol the Pirat two sleges o7 e bam A Ligh
gambiul soufud strusiuim coverel with gebdicipan stweeo and
rooled wite aobesies shingles was Jdesigned in eccordance with
Jamusway Gairy barp syecificalions.  Tae criginel barnyscd
vde cacloscd by the imcocesed widbh of whe pew structure amd
wellod with gloss ab Low lower level.

Tue ctooce wail Detweln the two moriae muw doors and
che Pamer cest wall 8t rigab angles w tiis wall wore sesoved
o provige & 3 Ioot cnbrames BEy W La 1oty section of the
salry berm

Te rool wes supported by baiii-uyp wood lrusses.

The moW TLoor N6l boun sdepied Uy the Nationel Fori Service
for the Jivplay ol wne Bruoae larriage collecuion y e
remcval Ui mos. oI the wow walls reluining, nowever, tne el
wnvlosed LRy Chules

The old sueble will wes retoined and Jormed an
incerior ulviding woil lopgltuddnedly slaougih the steble eres.

The flowd Lu tog sowth of the old studlc vall ves
covered with thick cuncrete. The casth floor o the norud of
the stable wall remaincl Lut vas Jug Lo a depil vaylng ifraa
8ix tu clghteen Luches bAlow the level ol we stumpe sills
valoh micked Wic odd dloor dlng

Ty COWB of woncrcte filloed pipe colisens nrovided
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intaomeliate joist suppoert loagitudinelly at mid-points between
the oid north apd seuth walls and the <ld south wall and the
later south wall

PRCCEDURE OF REMOVAL

The dismantling oi' the dairy barnm was begun in Junme
AY9Y with the remuval ol the agbesics shingle roofing. The
roor shestiing was sirigped mext folloved by the removal of
e rarvers. The truss members were cut and lowered Yy ropes.
Exyreme care was ueien during ths process o avold damege o
the old walls snd v avold destroying svidence which might
lend Lo more authentic restorstion

A crew of loborers was hired in addition to the
Park maintenance crevw to do the demolition. |

At about the time the rewmoval of the roof rafters
anxi trusses the cinder block end wells were removed to the
square to protect the stone walls bemealh.  Alter the truss
reamoval was complote the block wells were resoved ani the
rear halr of the flooring ripped up. A crane and ball was
employed Lo bresx up the comerete foundation walls and alab
tloor in ihe sguth hali of the stable level

Scon after the domolition was sterted the stone
mascon vas sct 1o stabilizing the old stone wulls which were
in need of repair. This wes done alac in order that the
missing parts of ube stable wall could be in place to bear
the neavy log Jjolsts waleh were to be set as soon 88 the
oid jJoist were ramoved.

It should be noted here that much credit must go



Lo cuperiniendant Josepn H. Premitica in the supervision of the
wemolition vrew  sidilial hamiling o maverials end crew
prevented sccidunis cspecially in the bazardous removal ol

ChwE SReLy rous Slruciure.

DISCOVEAL WADE (UNISD AN AVIER JEAOVAL

L Sicae uor J=mbs

ivowas obvicws shat ohe ¢ 1/¢7 plani deor jauwbs in
Ll Summiiaung ousado docrways of tae soull wall were replsce-
WEE ki uvhereiors, W ascwaed boat che first jambe were
eluc wood.  dhen the flrse jaubs wers semoved layers of
WL LCWALL Were aavisdsd usiler bhe Jaube.  Furtaer investigation
revoaled tase iron glnide anchors amd Lasp ring eachors were
6iill in placc in the stone walla. This weant that the doors
fitved lmle tbe scone openings aad thual ihe {ixed hesps on the
dooss suled os slops

fuis Jdocovery led Lo a search of similar openings
in cther Paraz  dhrce weans with swone juwmbs woere found.
Geoerzlly ooy wess found on early barns. It 18 possible that
stons Jambs «id not aocep outl the elemenis as well a3 woud jembs
an woere pot widely wesi. Installation of dovss wes more
didiicudt in ol the door el W be soribed Lo (4t the
scawtimes irrogular sicuc opening.
< Geble Jinicws in licu of Iouvers

Whes e stucov was raaoved Irom the old stone end
Weil, Lhe arcacu spenikg on the easl opd, amd the rectangular
vpealng on e west cad were Jvund W bave pioule remmants
inilact in the assonry imiicating the use of doors om these

openings



Jplil suls tioe it was suppoaed that the louvers
suown in uie old ghotogiapis (Care 1915 & Sisuiier 1920) were
reglacomancs of e oviginal louvers. It novw appearced ohab
Loe cna DoWw openinge were dwors cimilar la cousiruction W the
stope jamb stable aooras. |

Jhcy tue rescorstion vas Jone, board and batien doors
wure coBbiudiad and (e brosen pinilaes replfcua.

The s type oo Wrouginl lron strap ulage was used
G vheeBG wors s un bae stable dours As 8 convenlent peans
of tedtening, (wum  the faterior wwWwo weovught ixron Looka WEre
stapled w uhe ducr.  Oaé, & long ook {ixes Lk dovs in an
open posiiion Jor vembilarion and lighc, sl e cthar, a
saorsor hock o close the deor secuwsely. The O arrengomenc,
not an originel feaivwre, wus introduved o provide additional
Alght and air to tue oXhibit areas ol L EKVE

3. Window Openiig riovics

fie stebly wpenings, wullo tuey did aul conladn
phdgea sasl, swived s windows Lo admit light apl alr In
the winter they werce blucded wilh sy Luv héep out L cold.
TaeBe UpCiaags Weoe Fliled Wil Gt Jrioes and
borizomial +us o nichory bacs, anl wae usuaily placed on Tive
lock centers. No wuod sill woe used  The ves janibs emled on
the stone opening Wwhica served as stool apd aild  Thw head
Wi jeamb vere worvised, wenoned @nd pegged tugeiier and nad
che usual ers by wiici taey were suchored in the stone wall.

A detadi us waese windows fe included in Lhis repore.
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The three openings in the north wall of the mow
level were treated in the came way. The frame in the weat end
of the north wall of the mow level has the only original frames
remaining in the structure. The bars were missing but were
replaced in the location of the former bars. Directly below
1t in the steble leval the old frames werc found intact
cmbedded in the stome £411. These were set om the imterior
face of the vall in contrast to all of the others set im the
extoerior face. The latter two fromes wore badly decayed aad
as a result were measured and duplicated and set in the old
position.

4 Drew Bar Fragments

When the wood Joxibs were ramoved from door 6 which
bad been increased in size in the late period wood sleeve van
found containing sm ook slide, or druw bar, vhich had beem cut
ofi’ due to the doorwsy having been enlarged. Further invest-
igation revealed spaces or evidemces of such bars &t cach of
the remaining stall doors. Nome were founxd at the menger aisle
doors.

There are many such slides in existence in the barns
in the Beriks and Chester County areas, such as Miss Nellie
Bitler'sc barn in Pine Swamp, at the serpemtine stone bexn on
the Taylor property on north digh Street in West Chester, at
"Norleigh’' in Lionville, and the cmall stable at the Messner
ferm at Gibralter.
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5. Remains of Pimtles and Eye Fragments in Walls

The wrought iron pintles and hesp eye anchors in the
stone walls were found im plece. In most cases the shank and
pintle were brokem off flush with the iface of the wall. Whether
they were broken deliberately as a safety measure when the wood
Jembe were installed or were gradusally brokem in the passege of
years and as the result of hard usage is not knowa. In each
case a wrought copy was placed im the location of the old
snchor. This accounis for the staggered appearance of the
hinges on the stable doors. Due to the Joints im the rubble
stonewori occurring in different places the pintle placing
depended on the available stone Joints.
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A. SEARCH FOR SKILLED LABOR AND AUTHERTIC BUILDING MATERIALS

The comtractor who had done most of the restarstion work
atmw,c.s.mm,mmtmmommmkon
tmmawwmmmutnmammemmm
staff. This ceused & brief setback in getting the restoration
mjeﬂWmaimMmmmnlommfm
with the hewn tizber comstruction wsed et Hopewell, since the
methods of bern comstruction have changed Ifrom the old mortise and
tenon method with vhich wodern contractors are not familiar.

A crew of Lancaster County Amish barn builders was
rinally located and added to the Hopewell force. Work was begun
mmmimormmmmumcmmtm,mmm
contractor, &s voreman ior his crew on October 5th, 1959.

Two Hopewell carpenters sssisted tbe Amish. Warrem
Glass remained until the end of the year with Charles Seldel
remaining Lo carry the project io coapletion.

The choice of the Amish crew proved to have beem a wise
one. mutmk,msmnmtbeuseoftmumdmew—
nwoftmmmﬁMnaMI.mmoutstmﬁng. Their garb
added much to the old world atmosphere during their employment
at Hopewall.

The erectiom of the framing, rafters, and shingling
mmmmwnimthqmwdmdommletedmw

2Tta, 1959.



The green o8k logs and cut timbers were cbteined locally.
T logs for the floor joists had to be 33 feev long. The iillltop
Lumber Co. of Elverscn was the low bidder for most of the cak as
well es the pole rafters of popler The Happel Lumber Co. of
Birdsboro furnished the Pemnsylvania pine for ihe sheathing and
the interior work.

The specifications for the pine called for well seasoped
lumber. The pine planking for the rinisbed flooring was delivered
green and very wet and was returned for drying. It was placed in
heated storege for same weeks until the surfece seemed dry to the
touch. It was then laid and treeted with oil and penia Lo preveat
100 repld drying.

Tne gearcn for & blackamith iu reproduce the wrought iron
hardvere began eaxly. The first blacksuiin scoured proved too busy
with other work to produce much for Hopewell end finally went out
of business before completing the order. Further search im thw
Amdsh country turned up George Brubaker of Iecla, a veteran
blacksmith who was not only an excelleai craftsmen but turmed out
& great quantity of the hand forged hinges and pintles in &

sbort time.
B. ERECTION

1. Work or tue Stone Mason

Due to wearing sway of meny sections of the old lime

mortar in the stopewors, the mason had sn extensive job of



cutting out spalled secticns and reinforcing the old walls.
In several aress the stones were loose sl in meny places were
missing entirely. The lower exterior ares of the west vall and
the upper exterior of tne cast were in the poorest copdition.
As has been moted before, the end wall of the rirst sectiom of
the barn had to be fully rebuilt from the foundation together
with the mid-section ol ihe morth wall on ihe upper level. The
Mmma&ermmtmmtmwmmmge
double windows were removed had to be filled in and the original
openings restored. This latier involved the restoration of half
of the stone srch in the east wall. The west sectiom of the
gouth steble wall vas missing and had to be replaced. It vas
found that the stome pler between doors 3 and 4 was in poor
condition. In this case the stones were muabered and removed
and the pier rebuilt with the stones in the same position.

The two windows on tie lower level, west wall were
increased to their originel size by the removal of the modern
conerete brick. Brick and stone were also removed from the
two windows on the west end of the morta wall at the same time.

The modern vindow and door openings in the wash rooms
at the east end of the barn were removed and the area filled in
with metching stone. It was foumd that there were no openings
in this area of the esst and morth walls due to the original
sloping grade being higher o the east vall. These openings
bad been cut imto the old walls when the wash rooms were
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inatalled by the Park Service im 1,00. The women's room hos
been closed with tue fixiuwres in plece bul the men's room has
been adapted for ecmpluyees use utilizing the eastermmoet door
and window of the south stable wall.

A great amount of old stome of the same rubble sand-
stone was needed 1o restore the walls. The State Park lLad
pevicusly donated 8 baxn ruins from their aite vhich
Superintendemt Prentice srranged to have pulled down skl
delivered to lhopewell. The resulis of the blamding of ihe old
and new stomework is cxcellemt. It is difficult o determine
ithe replaced stonevork from the original.

2. The Hewing and Settimg of Log Joists
The huge ok logs for Joists were flattened on two sides

before Gelivery. A crew of laborers were set to work with aizes
and axes hewing tiem to the proper size mior to setiing them
in place. The longitudinal bearm as well as the posts were

hewn to 10" x 10”. These timbers and all of the wood used in
the dasn vers given & trestment o Memtacihloropienol in a
xerosene carrier. The timbers rasting in the stonevorki on noar
ground level were creoscted as well.

.....

The ofx structuwral mombers ranging in size from «° x 4

to 7 x 9" were carefully laid out for ihoir respective lucetions.
The mortises, tenoms and peg holes vere zmarked smd cut. The

sur’aces of these pieces were hand planed o remove the circular
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gaw marks. The old method of using an adz to cut the tenons
vas employed here. The use of wood templates in laying out the
mortises and temons facilitated the cutting and fitting. Christ
Beiler who laid out the work marked each plece ao that each
section might be sel in place easily and it perfectly.
4. Erection of Beys

The wall plates were set in place after being fitted and
notched (or "coffined”) for the roof rafters. After each section
of framing was assembled on the floor, the sssembled unit was
raised into position by ropes end manpower. when the section
ves level, in position and rirmly seated in the sill plate
mortises, the ties were pegged to the wall plates.

5. Erection of Koof Structure

After the framing section (or "bents” as they are called
locally) was placed the purlin supports and braces were set in
place. The purlins were next and had been notched and carefully
measured to it each bay. These were pulled into place by a
hand operated portable crane.

When the purlins had been placed the poplar stripped pole
rafters which had been previously mortised and tenoned at the
ridge end, and notched and undercut at the eave end, werc raised
into place.

6. Shingling

Following the erectiom of the pole rafters 1" x 3" oak

shingling lath were applied to the rafters on 9" cemters. Prior

to these the 1" x 12" eave boards were applied. Modern =i
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cedar shingles, the nearest approximation to the old hand shaved
shingles were nailed to the lath. Other than the spikes used to
anchor the raf'ters into the plate the shingling nails were the
only nails used in the construction thus fear.

T. Fabrication of Doors, Application of Hardware

All of the doors for the project have been constructed
of one inch Pennsylvenias pine boards im widths of from 3" to
12". The battens and braces are 1-1/4" pine. Cut, clinch pails
vere used to assemble the doors since they most nearly approximate
the old patls of the period. The wide pine t. & g. boards used
for the doors were edge beaded with an old moulding plane. This
vas the exterior treatment for the doard and dbatten doors of the
ecarly period.

Each of the doors had to be comstructed individually for
its opening. Of the ten doors in the stable no two are alike
either in dimension or in the scparation of the upper and lower
sections, the latter due to the irregular placement of the hinge
pintles in the stone wall. The battens were located in order
that the center of the wrought iron strap hinge would fall on
the center line of the batten.

In applying the hardwero the door was carefully fitsed
into the opening. iioles drilled into the door to correspond
with the rivel holes in the strap hinges. Three eighth rivets
(sctually machine bolts cut to size) were inserted and tapped
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solidly into pdace. The wrought irom fixed haspe were applied
in the sane monnes.

The wrougit irom strap hdnges on (a0 cestermmost doors
of Lk south stable wall and thoe east mow Jdoor ninges in the
noriih wall are tie Gomation o Mr. and Mrs. Bgar Dimmsock of
Fottstowm. The remainder are yeproductions forged by the
Lancaster county blackandiils.

Tie curved gwigeom uinges on Lhe access doors 0 ithe
lerge mow doors are copies of one of the hinges in the Dimmocit
collection. This pariicular hinge wes not authenticated as
naving beem tle type used on the Jdoor bul as no evidence exisis
as o the original type it was used since 1t is sppropriste.

C. Gronery Leyo.. and Comstruction

The only incication of toe former granaxy locations
came from Myr. rainter who sald ihe granaries in the barn during
s time ai Hopewell were near the center of Lhe wows and were
entored from the thresixing floor. Tals was in the period wvuen
the barn had the wmdtiple adlitions and tue lviebay was no
longer In exiscence.

It wao decided Lo place the reconstructed granariec in
the iraditionsl looation in the jorebay tims providing circu-
lation spece in ithe wows ror exhibite. For the same reason
the granaries were revluced in lemgth. led the circulation
space not been & lactor (i greneries would have been as long

as the width of the mows.
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Vertical pince siding on ool framing encloses the
granariss on the interior. The exterior walls are the cormers
of the forebny. The doors arc hung om wroug it strap hinges
and are fastemed with wood slide bolts.

Two grainm dins with slide fronis and sloated dropy
ldds wexre buillt inside the west grapary (o dexonstrale the use
of the gramary tu the public. The old strap kinges used on ihe
erain bin lids are old wrougat hinges found auv hopewell Toe
cast granary is identicel in sppecrance execpl tuat ihe
interior uas not been [{tted with grain bins.

9. Forebay Comsiruciion

There was no sign ol the forcbay civher in the remains
oi the old barm oz in ithe photogeephs. In the peciod of lhe
early 1900'e wien itue older malbtiple unit siructiwe was otill
stending the "raising piece’ (or sill plate) of tao south
forebay vall as recelled by Mr. Fainter was in place. This wes,
28 he remembered, approximately #'-07 or L’ -0 peyond ihe face
of the stone stable wall. In checking the remaining berns of
this type, it was found toat lbe 4'-5" dlscaslion wes boil
average and proportionally goed.

The heavy log julsis extemded boyond the stable well
and supported tae well of the forebay. ‘The sill and wall plates
Mned up withh the edge of the log Jjodsis. Tno ool ralters

continued the rool lime ol the barn over wie lerebey Thw
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pides were sheathed in random widths of Pemmsylvania pine
siding. The siding in the old barns was loosely butted in
order that air might circulate into the mows for hay curing.
The same installationm was used im the restoration. It is
rigured that the boards will be nearly one guarter of am imch
apart vhen they have been completely dried by the exposure to
sun and air.

As wes the custom, doors were placed inm the south fore-
WvﬂlwyouutiwnmmtoaMtugh’cmdee
£1111ing the mows and threshing grain. These doors were also
used to drop strew and Lay to the barmyerd below. Im the
restoration they serve the purpose of admitting daylight to the
exhibits.

10. Windov and Door Lintels

In most cases lintels or portions of liniels resained
80 that each could bes reproduced. Thickmesses varied with the
openings. Oek, the same size as the original wes used for the
replacements. To preserve the new wood Irom powder post beetles
it was treated with peniss and creosoted before being set im the
wvall. The lintels in ihe mow level openings remaining in the
porth wvall axe original.

An interesiing dut usual reature oi stone barms is
continuous exterior lintel for the doors and vindows an the
stabls wall. The two lmner limtels for each opening were
individual for the opening, with only the exterior lintel for
the doors and windows on the stable wall. The two inner limtels



for each opening were imdividual for the opening, with only the
axterior lintel comtinuing across the wall. Approximately two
thirds of the old continuwous lintel remained and was in poor
condition. S5ix by six cak was used for the two wvall faces of
each lintel and & six by eight for the interior member.

The two windows in the lower level, west elevation, had
concegled lintels similar to house comstruction. The frame
carried the few inches of stome on the exterior rTace of the
frame and the interior exposed lintels carried the major portiom
of the load.

In the case of the large mov doors on the north wall the
lintel was temoned into the Jardb posts. In this instance the
lintel carries mo weight, the roof rafters being supported on the
plate just above the lintel.

11. uood Barred Windov Openings

As has been moued in Sectilon III-3, the reproduced
openings duplicate the originals. Only the frame in the west
end of the nortin wall o' the mow level i1s the original. New
bars werc made for it and inserted into the old holes. The
other frames are of similar design and comstruction wiith minor
adjustments of dimension as the stone openings dictated. The
bars are sguared and set with the faces at & forty five degree
angle to the head of tug Irame. Thebarsunpost of the barns
and farn duildipgs in the viecinity are machine cut. Bars on
earlier bulldings werc hewn and it 18 this type that were
used at Hopewell.

A detail of the openings 1o included in the appendix

of this report.



l12. Stal]l and Manger Desigm and Layout

When it was decided to restore one sectiom of the
stable ares as 3 weans ol interpyreting toe {unctions of the
bern meny old barns were visited to ascervain ihe type of
stall usad. Very fow o. the 0ld stall types remained.

Most of the darns bai stalls of the leter und more modern
periods with the fixed post and board divisions.

Mr. Painfer wes again our authority and siated that
o fixed posi divisions asd exisied lu cvihe barm. The stalls
were separated mercly by poles resiing on the manger wall and
on the ground at the rear.

Two aerly menger arrangaents which were almost dup~
licates were found, one in Gibralter, Berxs County in the
barn owned by Coss. Messner, and tie otner in the Lancestier
County bern near Churchtown on the fsrm oi Mr. Singer.
Mossurements were mmade ol the two and sdapied for use at Hope-~
well. Invesiigation szuowed ihat early siall dividers were
poles wialca could be moved for cleaning the stall ana which
were eiiher chained ur tied with rope to Loe irame of the
manger wvall. The sligihtly movable poles were also a protection
to the animels.

At proegent the pole stall dlviders are rastened to
the menger uprights by & chain bolted turough tie pole and
stepled to the upright. There Las been founu mo itraditional

petiod of sattaching the pole to the uprights. The method



30.

veried even in the ssme barn. Until more research is done on
this, the preseat chsined poles will remain.

The width o1 ihe hopewell barn provided six stells per
rov. At cach stall division am upright was temoned into the
ranger plater above and into the log sill Plate at the floor
line. ‘fhe feeding trough was placed with the top edge 48"
frum ke floor, the urea betveen the top of the trough and the
floor was sheatned in wvide pine boards on the aisle side. The
hay racis constructed above ihe trough had wood bers set in osk
frames and placed om the animal's side ov the manger wall
sloping from the manger frame upwards to the first Joist over
the aninnl's heal.

A detail of ihe stalls and mangers is included in the
Appeniiix.

13. Hamps

The atone consek wall for the west end of the ramp &t
the porth of tae barm was uncovered after the semicircular
ligav well (circe 150) was removed during the demolition of
the dairy baxm. Tnis was largely intact with the top row of
stones missing. The wall angled slightly to the west from the
right angle of the barn wall.

The east caeek wall of the ramp waich was erected in
1556 av tne east end of tie east mow door has been retained.

All traces of the former cheek wall were obliterated by the



rrelntay well cal 1ol well which paralicled the barn wvall
at Yo cast wni. Mis light well creci.d chout 1926 by Nathan
Carc, ludild Jangeu, @i caaoved at toc tine Jhe swdern b
WEL  Wbaeh ucHn
. sointing . - BeWOA

Meny seciicns ol wae oldest polincing as well as later
putching were fuund on Ui exterior wvalls atter the removal of
the pebble-desh stuccw. Tne garly polating was Droughe o a
Jlstteped poipt and 1o similer to vhal ussd in many ol the
carly stape buildings in casiern Pennsylvenia.

Tue mason sdupliceted tbie poiniing in the repaired snd
replaced seciions o Sue wells «b well aé In tne Areas which
the origipal poiating nad cpellou off.

15. Painuing and «hilowushing

rarly peotoprepas siowed the exterlor to Lave been
whitewas.od. wien Luc otucco vas rtamoved uiny laywrs of
widtowash were fvume covering the old slume walls. Waen e
winting was complooed & coal of whitlewash newe .iou Luaay
lise, slased, oac to walecl sall bad been adaed, was spplied
o the walls.

Accoralng to My. Painter's descripiion all of ihe
woondworks op tue Jlral siege barn was woltowashel wivhn e
stone walle. <hen S.¢ »300RL 5LAED Was orecied L Lhe casl
the wxterior woodwork was palhvew witi iron oxide painc of

viai is spown 8% ‘bap rou’ . From tue earliest time tae



stable doors were kept whitowashed and were done st the time

of the whitewvashing of the interior of the stablcs and the
exterior of the stable wall. The interior was kept whitewsshed
for mitmmmmmlformﬁngtbemrm.ly dark stebles
lighter.

In the restoration of 1950 all tue sbove areas were
whitewesnod., The exterior wooawork was painted red in the east
saction and whitewsshod in the west section. The two boerd and
batten shutiers on the lower level, woot eclevation, appear in
the photograph to have been dars. For this reascon and due
also to the fact that they appeer to have been later additions
they werc painied red. Im carrylng out the traditiom the facias
on the east and west gables werc painmted red.

As there had been mo indicetiom of the origimal forebey,
there was also mo knowledge of what fimish wes given the
sheathing on it. As most of ihe forebays foumd in the vicinity
were painted red in the Pemmsylvemis Dutch tradition, and since
1t was xnown toat red peint had been used on the bam, the
forcbay sheathing was thenm givem & coat of red contrasting
with the long white stable wall bemeath it.

15. Crading
The grade at the north side of the barm and the south

gide of tue Ironmaster's liouse was leveled by Kathen Care while
he ves resident fermer. As o result ibe gredes at the east ond,
an between the barn and oifice on the west, had also been

changed. From various interviews in the Hopewell [iles ihe
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grade into the west hay mow Irom the rosi between the store and
barn hed been such @8 o upset hay wagons approacuing the ramp.

In the process of providing a tremch for the laying of
electrical conduit betweem the Ironmaster's House and the bamn,
and another line beiweem the House and the Office-Store, an
early road bed was uncovered. Further investigation by
Archeologist Cotter while the backhoe was on the job revealed
an old brick road bed curving sround the shed and rumning
between the office-store shed anl barn. This brick roed bed
appears not to have been the actual road surface but & ballest
for & slag road from 4 to & imches thick. It was at this level
to which the old road vas restored.

This provides the bdesis for the restoretiom since the
old exterior plaster lime of' the shed revealed an earlier
grade from 18" to 367 below the present grade. The old grade
lines at the south end of the house were obvious by the patch-
ing of the stucco from the former grade to the lowered present
grode. Tais chenge, too, ves documentated by tbe photos of
the area taken before Mr. Care's regrading.

With this evidence as a besis tihe restoratiom ol the
grodes wes begun vith uhe re-eatablishing of the road grade
between the store and bern and the cutting of the grade
ddrectly north of the barn. The stone retaining walls were
removed from the south of the sycamores at the south side of

the house and i1l placed Lo meet the levels indicated by the



oreavey retaining well, and the indication on the stucco of
ihe Ironmaster's house walls. A swale was created between
the house and barn. The stone wall to the cast of the aree
and at right angle to ihe porth barn wall vas removed but the
footings retained below grade when it was found that it vas
the retaining wall sdjecent to the former carriage shed
(mid 19th century) which vas not restored.

Explorations of tbe east and west side of this wall
by Archeologist Cotter revealed the original slope wlhich has
been rostored. The mortar of the upper portiom of the well
was later than that on the foundation indicating that the
wall wes rebuilt t{n a later period. This is confirmed by
an interview in the Hopewell files by temant farmer Care vio
built the wall in 1922 “om the foundations of an older wall
wvhich has fallem into poor repair.”

The grade at the emst side of the barm had beem in-
dicated by the projecting foundation stomes of the east wall.
The graie at this side was then sloped from the nmorih vall
dowmward to the south stable wall.

Cn the west side of the barn the grade at the bullding
was restored to its original level by ihe recpeming of the
wast door to the stables. Hopewell interviews and Mr.
Painter recall a broad stone step at the northwest cormer
where the grade begins ihe rise to the morth. This too was

restored.
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With the completion of the regrading the ban appears
to be set om the side of the hill which rises gradually from
the south of the barn to well beyond the aree of the village.
The north barn ramp now serves & gractical purposc as it did
vhen thc barn wes built.

The regrading around the barn brought the restoration
project to & close at the end of May, 1960.
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APPENDIX
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TLLUSTRATION NQ. 1

The wesi side of the barm before the change in
grade oi ihe poritl side of the baxn as shown in the
1615 Care photio. The Jrame addition et the right of
the pleture was L old "Uizew Shed” camstiructed in
& pericd later than the barn restoration date.

Photo: M. Care, 1915
Copy neg. on file Hopewell HB Ro. 47-5






8O, o

The west sido of the darn showing the original
structure sefore tiw 136 dalry barn vas comstructed
over it as shown in this Steuffer ploto dated 1920,

The grade betwoeen the house and baxn had st
this point undargune cunes changes as evidenced by the
send ~ciroular light well at the nortiwest corner of
the barn.

Photo: Mr. Stsuaffer, 1920
Copy meg. on file Hopewell MRS No. 125-00






ILLIBTRATION NO. 3

¥ow doors of the Charles Messner barn at Gibculter,
Pa. The doors are not arigimel but the ainges are. It
was known that the strap hinges oa the Hopewell saxn were
similar.

Photo: Bed mnd Lila Goode, August 1960
Copy meg. no. BODC 1309






LLLUSTRATION 1O. &

Stone Jand {reatmsnt of the Charles MNessnor darn at Gibralter,
Pa. The remaining pmrt of ¢he drew bar is showm pvjectimg from the Jmub.
In thie case the pintles indiceie s single doow.

Photo: Ned and Lile Goode, August 1K5C
Copy neg. nc. BODC 1367






ILIIBTRATION HO. 5

The stonz jambe of the stable door on the bexn
owned by Miss Rellie biuler et Pine Swanp, Pa.

Photo: Robert D. Bomahiem, 1959
Copy neg. on file Hopewell N3 No. PL953-533






TIAUSTRATION F¥O. 6

Steble door Charles Nessner farm, Gibralter, indiceting exmmples
of early wrought barn imrdware. The hasp and hook shown hers is srranged
to dyop. Tue hasp on ihe Hopewell bdarn bed to be fixed 10 sorve as &
mﬁmimtthestmjm.

Photo: Bed sud lile Coode, Ausgust 1960
Copy meg. no. BODC 1372






ZLLUSTRATION MO.

Barred windov and solid frame with the typicel sicme sill. Bam
at "Norleigh,” Lionviile, Cheoter County, Pa. Several siuilar Jmndi with
wmmmmmmmadmnamwm.

Photo: Ned exd Lila Goode, August 1960
Copy peg. no. BODC 1368
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TLUSTRATION ¥O. 8

Duoring the process of the removal of the stome i1l
from oo of the porth windows of the stable level the odd

freme was found in place but bedly decayed. A coyy of the
old fyame wvos made as the roplacememt.

Photo: Robert D. Romsheim, 1959
Copy meg. on fils Hopewell NBS No. P1959-358









ILLUSTRATION ¥0. 9

Progress photo showing the demclitiom of modern
barn, the stabilization of the stomework of the eest
wvall and the stome arch restored.

Photo: Robert D. Romshein, 1959
Copy neg. om file Hopewell NES Bo. P1959-121






JLLUSTRATION 10

mmmnmmwmtm. e
half mearest the house comtains the old bexm walls. The
south hallf was completely removed.

Pwto: BRobert D. Romsheim, 19559
Copy neg. on file lopewell EES No. F1959-200






ILUBTRATION J0. 1)

Original opening in the north wvall after the comcrete
brick £111 was removed. The frome is the omly crigimal

remaining in a good state of preservation. It has been
preserved and nev wood dars imserted into the holes.

Photo: Robert D. Romsheim, 1959
Copy meg. on fils Hopewell NHS Mo. P1959-189






ILLUSTRATTON 3O, 12

mﬁmdmmmmnmm
lavel. The relation of the modern windows to the old
can be noted here.

Pbhoto: Robert D. Romsheinm, 1959
Copy meg. on fils NHopewell NES No. F1959-110






JLLUSTRATION RO. 13

The stone esst wall stadilised before the mpdern
portion vas completely resmoved.

Photo: WDOW,I”S
Copy neg. on fils Hopewell NHS No. P1959-219






ILLUSTRATIOR HO. 14

Ome of the pintle snchors removed from the stome wall.
The pimile pin and pert of the shank has been broken off.
These pintls snchors were reproduced end imserted into the
stome walls in the location of the ald pimtles.

Photo: Robert D. Romeheim, 1959
Copy seg. on file Hopewell BES No. F1959-113
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TLLUSTRATION BO. 15

The remains of the wood drew dar found in the jexd
of the enlargsed doorvay.

Pnoto: Robert D. Romsheim, 1959
Ovpy neg. om file Hopewell HES No. P1959-128






ILLUSTRATION NO. 16

The stone pler shown was original but the old
mortar had deteriorated 5o as to make the pler umsate.
The pler vas photographed snd Lhs stence mmbsred
bafore the rebuilding was begun.

Prowe: Robext D. Homsbedm, 145y
Copy nog. om file Hopewoll NiS No. P1959-27h






Reelopad svult wrallde wwll 1k origlinel pler
rocineiarie el Tof wstr ond window oeaings areé restored
85 are ihe drew bers in tas doorweys showmn in partially
cloped pasi{tion.

Paote: Jack E Boucler, Januery 1560
Copy neg. mo. R0DC U75






ILIUSTRATION NO. 10

The cold stome portions remmining after the removal
of the modern barn.

Photo: HRobexrt D. KHonsheim, 1959
Copy neg. on file Hopewcll NH3 No. P1959-3Th






JLLUSTRATION RO. 19

The setting of the log joists-the first step iB
the exection of the framing. The poplar poles in the
foreground later became pole rafters.

Pooto: Robexrt D. Ronmsheim, 1959
Copy meg. on file Hopewell NES No. P1959488






ILIUSTRATION WO, 20

The assexbling of the framing sectiom before 1t is
raised imto place. Note the recess left for the tie
beam in the stone wall.

Photo: Robert D. Romsheim, 1959
Copy neg. on file Hopewell RIB Fo. P1959-48T






ILLUSTRATION NO. 21

The wse of modern tonls in an old method of comstruction.
HBere & power saw is Weing wed to cut tenoms. A pile of
canpleted knee braces is st the left.

Photo: Fobert D. Romsheim, 1959
Copy meg. on file Hopewell Xi5 No. P1959-493
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